ARGUMENT 

I.  Under the Fourth Amendment, law enforcement’s re-
tention of a cellphone must be reasonable. 

A. A note on publication. 

In his opening brief, Zimmerman advised the Court 
that publication may be warranted due to the important con-
stitutional question this case presents: whether the retention 
of property by police—not just its initial seizure—must be rea-
sonable under the Fourth Amendment. Appellant’s Br. 11. 
Zimmerman answers that question “yes” and contends that 
law enforcement’s prolonged retention of his cellphone was 
unreasonable. Id. at 33-38. The State answers that question 
“no”; it says retaining property is different from seizing it, 
such that the Fourth Amendment does not apply. State’s Br. 
12-15. 

Precedent indicates that the State is wrong, but there  
is no controlling case directly on point. By relying solely on 
cases from two federal circuits—amid a circuit split on the is-
sue—the State’s brief proves publication is merited. Wiscon-
sin needs a binding resolution to the recurring question of 
whether the Fourth Amendment governs law enforcement’s 
retention of private property. 

B. Overview. 

In United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 124 (1984), the 
United States Supreme Court recognized that the govern-
ment’s seizure of private property may be lawful “at its incep-
tion” but become unlawful over time. Thus, under Jacobsen,  
a seizure continues over time, encompassing more than the  
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initial governmental act of taking a person’s property away. 
See id. at 124-25. So long as a seizure continues, the Fourth 
Amendment’s reasonableness requirement applies. See id. 

The State disagrees. It argues that the Fourth Amend-
ment is inapplicable to law enforcement’s retention of private 
property, citing opinions from the Sixth and Seventh Circuits 
for that proposition—and ignoring Jacobsen. 

Different jurisdictions have considered these conflicting 
interpretations of what constitutes a seizure under the Fourth 
Amendment, and the cases go both ways. But by far the most 
thorough analysis appears in a recent decision from the Dis-
trict of Columbia Circuit Court of Appeals: Asinor v. District of 
Columbia, 111 F.4th 1249 (D.C. Cir. 2024).1 Asinor holds that, 
following a lawful property seizure, the Fourth Amendment 
requires “any continued possession of the property [to] be rea-
sonable.” Id. at 5. The Asinor court reaches that conclusion by 
conducting an in-depth analysis of “the Fourth Amendment’s 
text and history, as well as modern Supreme Court prece-
dents”—most notably Jacobsen—“regarding the constitution-
ally permissible duration of seizures.” Id. 

For the many reasons Asinor cites, this Court should 
hold that law enforcement’s retention of property is a seizure 
subject to the Fourth Amendment’s reasonableness require-
ment. Since the State doesn’t claim that law enforcement’s re-
tention of Zimmerman’s cellphone was reasonable, and be-
cause the record shows it wasn’t, the circuit court’s decision 
denying suppression should be reversed. 

 
1 Perhaps because this opinion is so new, the pagination available 

on LexisNexis does not appear to reflect the federal reporter’s pagination; 
the opinion starts on page 1. 
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C. Asinor demonstrates that the Fourth Amendment 
applies to property retention. 

Asinor tackles just one issue: whether the Fourth 
Amendment’s reasonableness requirement applies to the gov-
ernment’s retention of lawfully seized property. It holds that 
it does. The Asinor court’s reasoning is thorough, and it in-
cludes an analysis of the same binding precedent addressed 
in Zimmerman’s opening brief. 

Asinor begins by examining the text of the Fourth 
Amendment. “Founding-era definitions of the word ‘sei-
zure,’” it explains, “are consistent with both readings”—that 
a seizure is limited to the government’s initial taking of prop-
erty and that it encompasses continued possession. Id. at 6. But 
“[h]istory helps resolve this semantic ambiguity.” Id. The Su-
preme Court has repeatedly held that the Fourth Amendment 
“codified a ‘pre-existing right,’” id., and there was a pre-exist-
ing right against the “prolonged, unauthorized possession of 
[one’s] property ... even if the initial taking [was] lawful.” Id. 
at 8-9. In sum, “history indicates that the Fourth Amendment 
governs [law enforcement’s] continued retention, as well as its 
taking possession, of [private] property.” Id. at 9. 

With its textual and historical analysis complete, the 
Asinor court turns to precedent, stating: “Modern caselaw con-
firms that the Fourth Amendment governs what happens af-
ter the government initially seizes property.” Id. at 9-10. It 
then examines Jacobsen, in which—as noted above and dis-
cussed at length in Zimmerman’s opening brief—the Supreme 
Court recognized that the duration of a seizure may render it 
unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Id. at 10; see also  
Jacobsen, 466. U.S. at 125. If a seizure has a duration, and if that 
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duration can violate the Fourth Amendment, then a seizure is 
not confined to the moment property is taken away. 

Lastly, Asinor looks to precedent outside the realm of 
property seizures—to “[t]he modern caselaw on the seizure  
of individuals.” Asinor, 111 F.4th 1249, at 12. “When a person 
is seized,” says the court, it’s well-settled that “the Fourth 
Amendment requires reasonableness not only at the moment 
of arrest, but also for the seizure’s entire duration.” Id. at 12. 
(Consider, as just one example, the case law governing the ex-
tension of traffic stops; an officer may seize a person for the 
amount of time reasonably necessary to address the issue that 
led to the stop and—absent grounds for a new seizure—no 
longer. See Rodriguez v. United States, 575 U.S. 348, 354-57 
(2015).) No “textual, historical, or other reason” suggests  
“that the Fourth Amendment protects against the ... pro-
longed seizure of persons but not ... of effects.” Id. at 12. It pro-
tects against both. 

Thus, the Fourth Amendment’s text, its history, Jacob-
sen, and the cases governing seizures of individuals all 
demonstrate that the Fourth Amendment applies to the gov-
ernment’s taking and retention of property alike. While “[o]f 
course” the government may “retain contraband or evidence 
in an ongoing criminal [case,] ... the Fourth Amendment does 
require continuing retention of seized property to be reasona-
ble.” Id. at 21.  

D. Fox and Lee hold that the Fourth Amendment 
does not require property retention to be reason-
able, but they reach that conclusion by ignoring 
the most relevant precedent. 

The State posits the opposite—that the Fourth Amend-
ment has nothing to say about a person’s interest in property 
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after the government takes it away—by relying on Fox v. Van 
Oosterum, 176 F.3d 342 (6th Cir. 1999), and Lee v. City of Chi-
cago, 330 F.3d 456 (7th Cir. 2003). A concurring opinion in Asi-
nor addresses not just these two cases but every federal circuit 
court opinion indicating that the Fourth Amendment’s rea-
sonableness requirement is inapplicable to property retention. 
As the Asinor concurrence makes clear, the State’s reliance on 
Fox and Lee is unavailing. 

Both Fox and Lee take pains to distinguish United States 
v. Place, 462 U.S. 696 (1983), which addresses the passage  
of time during investigatory detentions of property, not  
full-fledged property seizures. Place holds that there’s a tem-
poral limit to a reasonable investigatory detention of property 
(just as there’s a temporal limit to a reasonable investigatory 
detention of a person, i.e., a Terry2 stop). See id. at 706-09.  
Indeed, in that case, “[t]he length of the detention ... alone” 
rendered the investigatory detention unlawful. Id. at 709.  

Given that Place addresses the equivalent of a Terry stop 
and not the equivalent of an arrest, it may not dictate, on its 
own, that the duration of a full-fledged property seizure may 
render it unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment. But the 
core problem with Fox, Lee, and the State’s analysis is that 
none of them acknowledge Jacobsen’s extension of the Place 
principle to that very context: full-fledged property seizures. 
Jacobsen, unlike Place, shows that a property seizure has a du-
ration that may render it unreasonable—and thus that the 
Fourth Amendment’s strictures apply beyond the moment the 
property changes hands. 

 
2 Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). 
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Recall that in Jacobsen, the government lawfully seized 
and subsequently field tested a powder that a private freight 
carrier had discovered. 466 U.S. at 111-12. A significant ques-
tion presented was whether the field test—conducted without 
a warrant—violated the Fourth Amendment. The Supreme 
Court held that the field test was not a search, as it did not 
“compromise any legitimate interest in privacy.” Id. at 123. 
But it also held that the field test extended the government’s 
seizure of the powder. Id. at 125. Since “a seizure lawful at its 
inception can nevertheless violate the Fourth Amendment be-
cause its manner of execution unreasonably infringes posses-
sory interests,” the Court undertook a balancing analysis to 
determine whether the seizure effected by the field test was 
reasonable. Id. at 125. Like the Place Court, it weighed “the na-
ture and quality of the intrusion on the individual’s Fourth 
Amendment interests against the importance of the govern-
mental interests alleged to justify the intrusion.” Id. “Apply-
ing this test,” it deemed the continued seizure reasonable. Id.  

The duration of the seizure in Jacobsen, then, was not 
unreasonable and didn’t violate the Fourth Amendment. But 
the fact that it had a duration is telling. The reasonableness in-
quiry wasn’t limited to the government’s initial taking of the 
property in either Place or Jacobsen, and it should not be so lim-
ited here. 

II.  The circuit court, the State, and trial counsel all made 
errors at Zimmerman’s jury trial that warrant relief. 

A. Introduction. 

Three collections of errors at Zimmerman’s jury trial 
warrant a do-over. First, the State made an improper golden 
rule argument during its rebuttal, and trial counsel—though 
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he objected—did not seek a remedy for the error. Second, and 
again during its rebuttal, the State offered unlawful burden-
shifting commentary on Zimmerman’s silence at trial. This 
time trial counsel objected belatedly, seeking a mistrial (which 
the circuit court denied) but no lesser remedy (because it was 
too late for anything else). And finally, everyone overlooked 
a significant error in the Count 7 guilty-verdict form until after 
the verdicts were in. 

Trial counsel’s responses to the State’s improper rebut-
tal arguments were ineffective, as was his failure to identify or 
correct the verdict-form error before deliberations. In addi-
tion, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in  
denying a mistrial. The State’s efforts minimize the signifi-
cance of these errors—or to claim they weren’t errors at all—
fail. A new trial is warranted. 

B. Trial counsel responded ineffectively to the 
State’s golden rule and “unable to say” remarks, 
and the circuit court erred in denying a mistrial. 

Deficient performance – the golden rule argument. On 
the deficient-performance prong, the State contends that trial 
counsel performed adequately by preventing the prosecutor 
from making a golden rule argument (though it concedes the 
prosecutor was headed in that direction). Then, after implic-
itly conceding that trial counsel could have done a better job 
by seeking a remedy after objecting, it notes that perfection 
isn’t required. 

The State is right that the prosecutor was headed to-
wards an explicit golden rule argument and that trial counsel 
could have done more to prevent the jury from putting them-
selves in the victim’s shoes during deliberations. But it over-
looks the implicit golden rule argument conveyed by the 
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prosecutor’s “Remember when you were 17” comment. She 
made an improper argument even though she didn’t get all 
the way through it. 

What’s more, while perfection from trial counsel isn’t 
required, ordinary prudence is a constitutional imperative. 
State v. Felton, 110 Wis. 2d 485, 499-501, 329 N.W.2d 161 (1983). 
A reasonable attorney exercising ordinary prudence tries to 
undo damage inflicted on his client during a jury trial—in-
cluding by seeking a remedy for an improper and prejudicial 
argument by the State. Of course, remedies can take different 
forms; that’s why, as the State points out, Zimmerman said his 
trial counsel “could” have made any number of remedy re-
quests. But by declining to seek any remedy, trial counsel let 
an improper argument sit, with no clarification from the cir-
cuit court that what the prosecutor invited the jury to do was 
wrong. That was objectively unreasonable and thus deficient. 
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). 

Deficient performance – the “unable to say” remarks. 
The State contends that trial counsel’s tardy objection to the 
State’s second improper “unable to say” rebuttal argument 
was rooted in a reasonable trial strategy, and that nothing in 
the record supports the claim that the circuit court would have 
granted a lesser remedy. The State presents these arguments 
in its deficient-performance section, though the latter appears 
to address prejudice. 

The State accurately notes that, at the postconviction 
hearing, trial counsel said he didn’t want to make a big deal 
out of the prosecutor’s second round of problematic commen-
tary—a strategic reason for declining to object until delibera-
tions had begun. (287:13). But having some strategy is not the 
same as having an objectively reasonable strategy, which is 
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what the Sixth Amendment requires. Here, the effects of shift-
ing the burden and inviting the jury to hold Zimmerman’s si-
lence against him are too damaging to justify a delayed, par-
tial response. That’s true not just because lesser remedies are 
available in the moment, but also because the circuit court 
would have been far more likely to accurately recall the pros-
ecutor’s comments had they just been made. And, as Zimmer-
man’s opening brief explains, the circuit court erroneously ex-
ercised its discretion by denying trial counsel’s mistrial re-
quest based on its misconception about what the prosecutor 
said.  

The State protests that nothing in the record shows the 
circuit court might have granted a lesser remedy. It points to 
the circuit court’s misconception about the State’s comments 
and insists that misconception—not the all-or-nothing nature 
of the requested remedy—was the reason the circuit court de-
nied a mistrial. But the question is whether the circuit court 
would have granted a remedy given an accurate recollection 
of the prosecutor’s comments and given options less extreme 
than a mistrial—not what it would have done while misre-
membering what happened, with only a mistrial request be-
fore it. The State’s analysis here is thus confused; it’s unclear 
how the circuit court’s erroneous reasoning factors into the 
deficient performance inquiry. 

Prejudice – both rebuttal errors. The State’s core preju-
dice argument is that its improper rebuttal arguments had 
only a “conceivable” effect on the outcome at trial; it isn’t rea-
sonably probable that they changed the result. State’s Br. 24. 
The State also stresses that there was photographic evidence 
for the charges for which Zimmerman was convicted. 
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Determining with precision the impact of errors at a 
trial is generally impossible. It’s impossible here. Still, Zim-
merman’s opening brief details the relevance of his attorney’s 
mistakes to the jury’s decisionmaking and addresses the evi-
dentiary issues the case presented, which undergird the prej-
udice analysis. In reviewing this analysis, it’s critical to re-
member that a defendant need not show “counsel’s deficient 
conduct ‘more likely than not altered the outcome.’” Strick-
land, 466 U.S. at 696. A reasonable probability is a lesser bur-
den. 

With that lesser burden in mind, the key problem with 
the State’s confidence in the verdicts here is that it ignores  
issues with the photos introduced at Zimmerman’s jury 
trial—photos that serve as the State’s talisman in every preju-
dice discussion in its brief. The male’s face isn’t pictured, and 
a limited portion of his body is visible. The visible portions of 
the female’s face and body are blurry. They are, in short, “very 
unclear.” (See 248:85-86). 

For these reasons and those set forth in Zimmerman’s 
opening brief, trial counsel’s deficient performance was prej-
udicial, and a new trial is warranted. 

Mistrial denial. After rejecting Zimmerman’s claim 
that trial counsel was ineffective in responding to the prose-
cutor’s golden rule and “unable to say” remarks, the State 
turns to the circuit court’s denial of trial counsel’s mistrial mo-
tion, which was rooted solely in the “unable to say” compo-
nent of the prosecutor’s rebuttal. The State claims that these 
remarks were unobjectionable, and thus that the mistrial de-
nial was proper—reasoning aside. 
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Surprisingly, the State reaches this conclusion by posit-
ing that when the prosecutor said, “they were unable to say, 
It was not me,” she actually meant, “they were unable to say, 
It was not him.” See State’s Br. 31. But in discussing the matter 
at trial, no one—including the prosecutor herself—said “It 
was not him” is what she meant. The same goes for the post-
conviction hearing. Regardless, it’s the prosecutor’s words, 
not her intentions, that matter. The words are all the jury 
heard. 

Beyond its proposed rewriting of the prosecutor’s re-
buttal, the State returns to its claim that the jury instructions 
solved any problem with the State’s rebuttal and that the evi-
dence was strong. For the reasons set forth in Zimmerman’s 
opening brief, these arguments fail. 

C. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to identify 
or correct the Count 7 guilty-verdict form error. 

Deficient performance. The State’s deficient-perfor-
mance argument on the verdict form error is simple: missing 
it wasn’t good, but since trial counsel did what he could upon 
learning of the error, his representation was good enough. The 
State misunderstands effective advocacy. Trying to remedy a 
failure is a good thing—certainly better than nothing. But a 
clear-cut mistake, rooted not in any strategy but in an admit-
ted oversight, constitutes deficient performance. Wiggins v. 
Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 534 (2003). The State cites no case suggest-
ing such a deficiency can be excused by after-the-fact efforts 
at repairing the damage. Common sense says such efforts may 
preclude prejudice, but they do not erase the deficiency. 

Prejudice. The State’s prejudice argument here cites the 
jury instruction for Count 7 (which Zimmerman’s opening 
brief addresses) and leans, again, on the fact that the State 
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introduced photos in connection with the charges Zimmer-
man was convicted of. The State still does not acknowledge 
the limitations of the State’s blurry photos, nor does it recog-
nize that photos are often taken by other people, sometimes 
without the knowledge or consent of the photos’ subjects. The 
photos in this case are not a cure-all sufficient to overcome 
trial counsel’s deficiencies. The State’s evidence was a mixed 
bag, photos included. Its failure to grasp that reality renders 
its prejudice arguments unpersuasive. 

CONCLUSION  

Zimmerman asks that this Court reverse the postcon-
viction order and remand with instructions to vacate the judg-
ment of conviction, suppress the phone evidence, and hold a 
new trial.