Filed 07-24-2024

24 Page 1 of 34

FILED 07-24-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2023AP1888-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RYAN D. ZIMMERMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND A DECISION AND ORDER DENYING
POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, EACH ENTERED IN
THE EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HONORABLE JOHN F. MANYDEEDS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. There was no Fourth Amendment violation when Zimmerman consented to police searching his cellphone in this case.

Police originally possessed Zimmerman's cellphone after lawfully seizing it in 2015. During the investigation into Bailey's allegations, Henning informed Zimmerman that they still had his cellphone from the 2015 investigation. Henning provided Zimmerman with a consent form, which Zimmerman signed, permitting law enforcement to search his phone again in connection with Bailey's allegations. (R. 245:36–37; 70:6.)

Pre-trial, Zimmerman moved to suppress the evidence uncovered in the search of his cellphone, arguing that his consent was involuntary because "the pressures of the questioning overcame Zimmerman's will and self-determination," and "the consent was obtained after prior illegal police conduct." (R. 49:2.)

On appeal, Zimmerman argues only the second issue: whether the officer's continued retention of Zimmerman's phone effectuated an unlawful seizure, which, in turn, rendered his consent involuntary. (Zimmerman's Br. 33–38.) Citing *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696, 709–10 (1983), Zimmerman argues that law enforcement's continued possession of his cell phone after the conclusion of his prior criminal case rendered the once lawful seizure of his effects unconstitutional. (Zimmerman's Br. 34–35.) Specifically, according to Zimmerman, "by the time Henning requested Zimmerman's consent to search his phone a second time, [the phone's] continued seizure was unlawful." (Zimmerman's Br. 34.)

Zimmerman is not entitled to suppression of any evidence uncovered from the search of his phone. As an initial matter, it is important to note that Zimmerman *does not*

Case 2023AP001888 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-24-2024 Page 13 of 34

argue that his consent was involuntary for any reason other than the alleged unreasonableness of the subsequent "seizure"—i.e., the police still having his cellphone after seizing it in 2015. In fact, he has affirmatively abandoned any other arguments that his consent was invalid. (Zimmerman's Br. 35 n.2.) So, as long as law enforcement's continued possession of his phone did not implicate the Fourth Amendment, which it didn't, his consent was valid, and suppression is unwarranted.

Zimmerman's argument here fails because the Fourth Amendment was simply not implicated by law enforcement's continued possession of his cellphone.

"[T]he Fourth Amendment protects an individual's interest in retaining possession of property but not the interest in regaining possession of property." Fox v. Van Oosterum, 176 F.3d 342, 351 (6th Cir. 1999). Accordingly, "[o]nce [an] act of taking property is complete, the seizure has ended and the Fourth Amendment no longer applies." Id.; see also Lee v. City of Chicago, 330 F.3d 456 (7th Cir. 2003) (relying on Fox to reject the notion that continued possession of once lawfully seized property implicates the Fourth Amendment). While the Fox and Lee litigants sought to invoke the Fourth Amendment to redress the damage from law enforcement's failure to return their property, the principles of those cases should apply equally here.

The only seizure that occurred was in 2015 when Zimmerman initially consented to the search of his cellphone. There is no evidence that Zimmerman ever withdrew that consent. Quite the opposite, actually—he consented to the phone being searched a second time. Therefore, the initial seizure never became invalid. See Lee, 330 F.3d at 464–65 (discussing cases in which withdrawing consent may or may not result in a continued seizure becoming unreasonable). In turn, the "act of taking property [was] complete" and "the seizure . . . ended" in 2015. Fox, 176 F.3d at 351.

Case 2023AP001888 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-24-2024 Page 14 of 34

Under *Lee*, Zimmerman could not have invoked the Fourth Amendment to effect the return of his cellphone, *Lee*, 330 F.3d at 465–66, and he should not be permitted to invoke it now to transform an indisputably valid seizure into an unreasonable one merely because the cellphone he never asked law enforcement to return was possessed by law enforcement at the time of the current investigation. Indeed, he cites no authority for the proposition that continued possession of a consensually seized piece of property becomes an unreasonable seizure absent withdrawal of consent. *See id.* at 464–65 (noting that a seizure based on consent may become unreasonable if the consent is withdrawn).

Instead, Zimmerman relies generally on *Place* for the idea that a once reasonable seizure can become unreasonable with the passage of time. (Zimmerman's Br. 34–35.) But Zimmerman's reliance on *Place* is unavailing. Zimmerman's argument here is reminiscent of Lee's argument that "the Supreme Court's holding in *United States v. Place* broadly proposes that upon changed circumstances over time, a seizure of property that began as reasonable can become unreasonable." *Lee*, 330 F.3d at 464. But just as in *Lee*, Zimmerman's argument "betrays the narrow confines of [*Place*'s] holding, which is limited to brief investigative detentions of property on less than probable cause." *Id*.

As the Seventh Circuit explained, "Place held that an officer who can articulate a reasonable suspicion that property may be involved in a crime may act to detain that property in order to conduct further investigation." Id. Zimmerman does not contend that the initial seizure of his cellphone was a brief, Terry-style seizure for investigative purposes. "Place and its progeny deal only with the transformation of a momentary, investigative detention into a seizure," and Place is therefore inapposite. Id.

At bottom, Zimmerman's argument fails because "the Fourth Amendment no longer applie[d]" to law enforcement's

continued possession of Zimmerman's phone. Fox, 176 F.3d at 351. Said differently, the police did not "seize" Zimmerman's old cellphone a second time in 2019.⁴ Accordingly, there was no unreasonable seizure at the time that Henning sought Zimmerman's consent. And, because he does not otherwise argue that his consent was invalid, Zimmerman's consent to law enforcement searching his phone and the subsequent search were constitutional. This Court should affirm the circuit court's pretrial decision denying Zimmerman's motion to suppress.

II. Zimmerman did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel.

A. Defendants face a heavy burden to demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel.

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). To prove that trial counsel was ineffective, a defendant must show that (1) "counsel's performance was deficient" and (2) "the deficient performance prejudiced the defense." Id. at 687. A defendant must show both deficient performance and prejudice to succeed on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Id. If a defendant fails to show either, the inquiry stops. Id. "Surmounting

⁴ Because there was no second seizure that could be deemed unreasonable, there is no need to balance "the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individuals' Fourth Amendment interests against the importance of the governmental interests alleged to justify the intrusion." *State v. Sveum*, 2010 WI 92, ¶ 54, 328 Wis. 2d 369, 787 N.W.2d 317 (citation omitted); *see also State v. Arias*, 2008 WI 84, ¶ 47, 311 Wis. 2d 358, 752 N.W.2d 748 (conducting the governmental interest versus private interest balancing test to determine the reasonableness of a *seizure*).

Case 2023AP001888 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-24-2024 Page 16 of 34

Strickland's high bar is never an easy task." Padilla v. Kentucky, 559 U.S. 356, 371 (2010).

To prove deficient performance, a "defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 688. However, "[j]udicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential." *Id.* at 689. "[T]here is a strong presumption that trial counsel's conduct 'falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance." *State v. Breitzman*, 2017 WI 100, ¶ 38, 378 Wis. 2d 431, 904 N.W.2d 93 (citation omitted). And "[c]ounsel need not be perfect, indeed not even very good, to be constitutionally adequate." *State v. Thiel*, 2003 WI 111, ¶ 19, 264 Wis. 2d 571, 665 N.W.2d 305 (citation omitted). "[A] court looks to whether the attorney's performance was *reasonably* effective considering all the circumstances." *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 22, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334 (emphasis added).

To prove prejudice, a defendant "must show that [counsel's deficient performance] actually had an adverse effect on the defense." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 693. "It is not sufficient for the defendant to show that his counsel's errors 'had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." *State v. Domke*, 2011 WI 95, ¶ 54, 337 Wis. 2d 268, 805 N.W.2d 364 (citations omitted). Rather, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. "[R]eviewing courts are instructed to consider the totality of the evidence before the trier of fact." *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis. 2d 121, 129–30, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990).

B. Zimmerman has not overcome his burden to prove that he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

1. Counsel did not perform deficiently.

Zimmerman accuses his trial counsel of performing deficiently in three regards. First, he claims that trial counsel performed deficiently for objecting to, but not seeking a remedy for, the State's almost golden rule argument. (Zimmerman's Br. 40–42.) Second, and on the other side of the coin, Zimmerman argues that trial counsel performed deficiently for not objecting to, but later seeking a mistrial for, the State's alleged comment on Zimmerman's decision to not testify. (Zimmerman's Br. 42–47.) Finally, Zimmerman claims counsel performed deficiently for failing to correct the verdict form for Count 7 before the verdict form went back to the jury. (Zimmerman's Br. 53.) Counsel did not perform deficiently in any regard.

a. The golden rule objection

"In a criminal case, a golden rule argument asks the jurors to place themselves in the victim's shoes." State v. DeLain, 2004 WI App 79, ¶ 23, 272 Wis. 2d 356, 679 N.W.2d 562. "These statements are not allowed because they appeal to the jurors' sympathy for persons who have been injured or victimized by a crime." *Id.* As it relates here, during closing, the State began to say, "Now think about [Bailey], 17 years old, a girl. Remember when you were 17 years old. Did you- - . " (R. 254:115.) Before the State could ask what would appear to be the golden rule question, trial counsel objected, citing the golden rule. (R. 254:115.) The parties went into chambers for a sidebar, and when they returned, the State's continued without golden rule closing any arguments.t (R. 254:115–16.)

Case 2023AP001888 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-24-2024 Page 18 of 34

Zimmerman claims that trial counsel performed deficiently by not asking for a remedy after already objecting. (Zimmerman's Br. 41.) To be clear, Zimmerman is not arguing that defense counsel failed to object or failed to object with the requisite specificity. Instead, Zimmerman takes issue only with trial counsel's decision to not take the objection a possible step further by asking for a curative instruction or moving for a mistrial. (Zimmerman's Br. 41.) He asserts that doing so was the "necessary next step." (Zimmerman's Br. 41.) Zimmerman essentially claims that trial counsel's objection was too little too late because "the State led the jury in an improper direction, . . . invit[ing] them to ponder what it might have been like—for them at 17—to sit on the witness stand in a sexual assault case and answer attorneys' questions." (Zimmerman's Br. 41.)

The problem with Zimmerman's argument, though, is that trial counsel did all that was constitutionally necessary to prevent a potential golden rule argument from the State. Indeed, despite Zimmerman's contention that the damage was done, counsel stopped the State *before* it could contextualize its comment and invite the jury to "ponder what it might have been like—for them at 17—to sit on the witness stand in a sexual assault case and answer attorneys' questions." (Zimmerman's Br. 41.) Because of trial counsel's timely objection, all the State could say was, "Remember when you were 17 years old. Did you - -"—the prosecutor said nothing more. (R. 254:115.)

Tellingly, Zimmerman argues that counsel "could have asked the circuit court" for the remedies he also argues were "necessary." (Zimmerman's Br. 41.) But "Strickland does not guarantee perfect representation, only a 'reasonably competent attorney." Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 110 (2011) (citation omitted). "[T]here is no expectation that competent counsel will be a flawless strategist or tactician." Id. So, regardless of whether a reasonable attorney, in

hindsight, could have sought a remedy after objecting, it was not objectively unreasonable for trial counsel to object and stop the attempted golden rule argument in its tracks and deem that resolution sufficient.

Because Zimmerman cannot demonstrate that only objecting instead of objecting and seeking a curative instruction or a mistrial was not "an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen." *Dunn v. Reeves*, 594 U.S. 731, 739 (2021).

b. The mistrial motion

Still during the State's rebuttal, the prosecutor made the following comment:

[T]hroughout this trial you have heard testimony about I do not recall, I have no clue, I cannot remember, or I disagree. They were unable to say, It was not me, it did not happen.

(R. 254:118.)

Trial counsel did not object to that comment, but he moved for a mistrial when the jury was dismissed for deliberations. (R. 254:130–31.) When counsel moved for a mistrial, he explained that he believed the State "shifted the burden to the Defense" when the prosecutor "talked about . . . the interviews with Ryan Zimmerman, and she told the jury that he was unable to say, It wasn't me." (R. 254:130.) Trial counsel explained that he thought the argument "suggest[ed] to the jury that . . . Zimmerman has a responsibility to say that it wasn't him, to speak up on his behalf. It violates his right against self-incrimination to not say anything." (R. 254:130–31.)

Counsel explained that he did not object because the parties "had talked in [their] sidebar to [counsel's] previous objection, and for reasons that had been discussed with that sidebar, the [c]ourt doesn't like objecting in closing arguments." (R. 254:131.) Counsel stated that he "wanted to

Case 2023AP001888 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-24-2024 Page 20 of 34

give [the State] the courtesy of finishing their closing argument, but [he] wanted to make [his] objection known to the [c]ourt now." (R. 254:131.) The circuit court reminded counsel that "what I had instructed you was that if there was a need to object, you should object. . . . I wasn't cutting you off from objecting completely, but I wanted to make sure that there was a basis for it." (R. 254:131–32.)

The circuit court denied a mistrial. It reasoned that "the evidence speaks for itself. The jury was instructed that anything the attorneys say is simply that, argument. It's nothing more. I don't believe she characterized it the way that you did. I believe that she was appropriate in what she was saying." (R. 254:133.)

Zimmerman argues that counsel performed deficiently because he did not object during closing and instead waited to ask for a mistrial outside the presence of the jury. (Zimmerman's Br. 46.) According to Zimmerman, it is "perhaps unsurprising" that the circuit court denied counsel's motion for a mistrial "so late in the game," and "a contemporaneous objection . . . would have offered some assurance that the jury's deliberations weren't tainted." (Zimmerman's Br. 46.) He goes on to speculate, without any citation to the record, that "[t]he circuit court suggested that a lesser remedy would have been an option, given a contemporaneous objection, when it implied that trial counsel's objection was tardy." (Zimmerman's Br. 46.) Zimmerman's argument is wrong for two reasons.

First, counsel offered a valid strategic reason for not objecting again during the State's rebuttal. It is true that *part* of counsel's justification was that he thought the circuit court did not want interruptions to closing arguments. (R. 254:131.) It is equally true, however, that counsel explained at the *Machner* hearing that he did not object in part because he "didn't . . . want to make another big objection and bring the attention to that." (R. 287:13.) "A competent trial strategy

frequently is to mitigate damaging evidence by allowing it to come in without drawing additional attention to it, such as an objection would." *Hardamon v. United States*, 319 F.3d 943, 949 (7th Cir. 2003). Trial counsel's decision to forego an objection and instead wait to move for a mistrial outside the presence of the jury was therefore not objectively unreasonable.

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